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COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Domiciled and headquartered in South Africa, 
Sibanye Stillwater Limited (Sibanye-Stillwater or 
the Group) is a unique, diversified, global precious 
metals producer, mining and processing platinum 
group metals (PGMs) and gold. Our geographically 
diverse portfolio of operations and projects in 
southern Africa (SA) and the United States (US) 
was recently supplemented by the acquisition of a 
30% stake in Keliber Oy, developers of the Keliber 
lithium project in Finland.

About our reports
The 2021 suite of reports describes Sibanye-Stillwater’s 
progress in delivering on our strategy and related 
strategic focus areas, and on our purpose and vision to 
create value, responsibly and sustainably, over the short, 
medium and long term. The Integrated Annual Report, 
the primary report in the suite, covers our financial, 
operational, environmental, social and governance 
performance.

In compiling this report, we considered the following 
(but not limited to) frameworks, standards, and guidelines. 
The report details our level of alignment with them. 

Value Reporting Foundation: International Integrated 
Reporting Framework <IR>

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards

King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2016 (King IV)

International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM) 
assurance and validation procedure 

Listed Company Requirements for the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (JSE) and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

South Africa’s Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended

United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) Principles 
and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

South Africa’s Mining Charter III and social and labour 
plans (SLPs) 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Value Reporting Foundation: Sustainability Accounting 
Standards Board (SASB) Metals and Mining Standard

World Gold Council (WGC)’s Responsible Gold Mining 
Principles (RGMPs)

Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

OUR 2021 REPORTS
These reports cover the financial year 
from 1 January to 31 December 2021*

INTEGRATED 
REPORT 

SUMMARISED REPORT 
AND NOTICE OF ANNUAL 

GENERAL MEETING 

GROUP ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT 

COMPANY FINANCIAL 
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About our cover designs: 
Inspired by the earth’s strata 
and the characteristics of 
layered rocks at different depths; 
an abstract interpretation of 
the ‘alchemical’ transformation 
of raw materials into useful 
commodities. The covers also 
include images of employees, 
the people who embody 
our purpose and vision.

MINERAL RESOURCES 
AND MINERAL RESERVES 

REPORT 
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All of our 2021 reports, together with supporting documents, 
are available on our website at: www.sibanyestillwater.com/newsinvestors/
reports/annual

SUPPORTING FACT SHEETS AND 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
AVAILABLE ONLINE:
• Progressing the UN’s SDGs

• Environmental incidents in 2021

• Biodiversity management 

• Social and Labour Plans: Summary of projects in South Africa

• Care for iMali: Taking care of personal finance

• GRI content index

• Tailings management

• Combating illegal mining

• ICMM self-assessment

• Working together: The Good Neighbor Agreement

• Definitions for sustainability/ESG indicators

• King IV disclosure

• Climate change related disclosure: TCFD recommendations

*  Inclusive of information of year to date 22 April 2022 
and forward- looking guidance <#>

https://www.sibanyestillwater.com/news-investors/reports/annual/2020/
https://www.sibanyestillwater.com/news-investors/reports/annual/2020/


The information in this document may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the “safe harbour” provisions of the 
United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements, including, among others, those 
relating to Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, “Sibanye-Stillwater” or the “Group”) 
financial positions, business strategies, plans and objectives of management for future operations, are necessarily estimates 
reflecting the best judgment of the senior management and directors of Sibanye-Stillwater and involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. As a 
consequence, these forward-looking statements should be considered in light of various important factors, including those set forth 
in this document.

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this document may be forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements also often use words such as “will”, ““would”, “expect”, “forecast”, “potential”, “may”, “could” “believe”, “aim”, 
“anticipate”, “target”, “estimate” and words of similar meaning. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and 
uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances and should be considered in light of various important factors, 
including those set forth in this disclaimer. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements.

The important factors that could cause Sibanye-Stillwater’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from 
estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation, Sibanye-Stillwater’s future financial 
position, plans, strategies, objectives, capital expenditures, projected costs and anticipated cost savings, financing plans, debt 
position and ability to reduce debt leverage; economic, business, political and social conditions in South Africa, Zimbabwe, the 
United States and elsewhere; plans and objectives of management for future operations; Sibanye-Stillwater’s ability to obtain the 
benefits of any streaming arrangements or pipeline financing; the ability of Sibanye-Stillwater to comply with loan and other 
covenants and restrictions and difficulties in obtaining additional financing or refinancing; Sibanye-Stillwater’s ability to service its 
bond instruments (including high yield bonds and convertible bonds, if any); changes in assumptions underlying Sibanye-Stillwater’s 
estimation of its current mineral reserves; any failure of a tailings storage facility; the ability to achieve anticipated efficiencies and 
other cost savings in connection with, and the ability to successfully integrate, past, ongoing and future acquisitions, as well as at 
existing operations; the ability of Sibanye-Stillwater to complete any ongoing or future acquisitions; the success of Sibanye-
Stillwater’s business strategy and exploration and development activities, including any proposed, anticipated or planned 
expansions into the battery metals or adjacent sectors and estimations or expectations of enterprise value; the ability of Sibanye-
Stillwater to comply with requirements that it operate in ways that provide progressive benefits to affected communities; changes in 
the market price of gold, PGMs, battery metals (e.g., nickel, lithium, copper and zinc) and the cost of power, petroleum fuels, and 
oil, among other commodities and supply requirements; the occurrence of hazards associated with underground and surface 
mining; any further downgrade of South Africa’s credit rating; a challenge regarding the title to any of Sibanye-Stillwater’s 
properties by claimants to land under restitution and other legislation; Sibanye-Stillwater’s ability to implement its strategy and any 
changes thereto; the occurrence of labour disputes, disruptions and industrial actions; the availability, terms and deployment of 
capital or credit; changes in the imposition of industry standards, regulatory costs and relevant government regulations, particularly 
environmental, sustainability, tax, health and safety regulations and new legislation affecting water, mining, mineral rights and 
business ownership, including any interpretation thereof which may be subject to dispute; the outcome and consequence of any 
potential or pending litigation or regulatory proceedings, including in relation to any environmental, health or safety issues; failure 
to meet ethical standards, including actual or alleged instances of fraud, bribery or corruption; the effect of climate change on 
Sibanye-Stillwater’s business; the concentration of all final refining activity and a large portion of Sibanye-Stillwater’s PGM sales from 
mine production in the United States with one entity; the identification of a material weakness in disclosure and internal controls 
over financial reporting; the effect of US tax reform legislation on Sibanye-Stillwater and its subsidiaries; the effect of South African 
Exchange Control Regulations on Sibanye-Stillwater’s financial flexibility; operating in new geographies and regulatory environments 
where Sibanye-Stillwater has no previous experience; power disruptions, constraints and cost increases; supply chain disruptions and 
shortages and increases in the price of production inputs; the regional concentration of Sibanye-Stillwater’s operations; fluctuations 
in exchange rates, currency devaluations, inflation and other macro-economic monetary policies; the occurrence of temporary 
stoppages or precautionary suspension of operations at its mines for safety or environmental incidents (including natural disasters) 
and unplanned maintenance; Sibanye-Stillwater’s ability to hire and retain senior management or sufficient technically skilled 
employees, as well as its ability to achieve sufficient representation of historically disadvantaged South Africans in its management 
positions; failure of Sibanye-Stillwater’s information technology, communications and security systems; the adequacy of Sibanye-
Stillwater’s insurance coverage; social unrest, sickness or natural or man-made disaster at informal settlements in the vicinity of some 
of Sibanye-Stillwater’s South African-based operations; and the impact of HIV, tuberculosis and the spread of other contagious 
diseases, such as the coronavirus disease (COVID-19).

Further details of potential risks and uncertainties affecting Sibanye-Stillwater are described in Sibanye-Stillwater’s filings with the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Integrated Annual Report 
2021 and the annual report on Form 20-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission on 22 April 2022 (SEC File 
no. 333-234096).

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of the content. Sibanye-Stillwater expressly disclaims any obligation or 
undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statement (except to the extent legally required). These forward-looking 
statements have not been reviewed or reported on by the Group’s external auditors.

Forward-looking statements

<#>



01 02 03
ACCOUNTABILITY

COMPANY FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

ANCILLARY 
INFORMATION

Statement of directors’ responsibility 2 Company income statement 10 Administration and corporate 
information

33

Company secretary’s confirmation
2

Company statement of financial 
position 11

Report of the Audit Committee
3

Company statement of changes 
in equity 12

Directors’ report 6 Company statement of cash flows 13

Independent auditor’s report 8
Notes to the company financial 
statements 14

The audited company financial statements of Sibanye-Stillwater Limited for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been 
prepared by Sibanye-Stillwater group financial reporting team headed by Jacques le Roux. This process was supervised by the 
Company’s CFO. Charl Keyter and authorised for issue by Sibanye-Stillwater’s Board of Directors on 22 April 2022.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the company annual financial statements of Sibanye 
Stillwater Limited (SSW or the Company), comprising the company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and 
company income statement and company statements of other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows, and the 
notes to the company financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies, and other explanatory 
notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the 
requirements of the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 (the Companies Act) and the JSE Listings Requirements.

In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report.

The directors consider that, in preparing the company financial statements, they have used the most appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS standards that 
they consider to be applicable have been complied with for the financial year ended 31 December 2021. The directors are satisfied 
that the information contained in the company financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the 
financial position of the Company at year end. The directors are responsible for the information included in the company annual 
financial statements, and are responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company to enable the directors to ensure that the company annual financial 
statements comply with the relevant legislation.

The Company operated in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly reviewed. This 
incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded and that the material risks facing the business are being controlled.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and based on this 
assessment concluded that the basis for preparation of the company annual financial statements is appropriate to that of a going 
concern.

The directors’ attestation in terms of 3.84(k) of the JSE Listings Requirements can be found on page 35 of the Annual Financial 
Report.

The Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young Inc. audited the company annual financial statements. For their report, see–
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The company annual financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf by:

Neal Froneman Charl Keyter
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

22 April 202

Company secretary’s confirmation

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, I certify that to the best of my knowledge, the Company has 
lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required to be lodged by a public 
company in terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Lerato Matlosa
Company Secretary

22 April 2022

Statement of directors’ responsibility
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Introduction
The Audit Committee has formal terms of reference which are updated on an annual basis. The Board is satisfied that the Audit 
Committee has complied with these terms, and with its legal and regulatory responsibilities as set out in the South African 
Companies Act (Companies Act), King IVTM, the JSE Listings Requirements (JSE LR) and the requirements of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC).

The Audit Committee consisted of seven independent non-executive directors for the period from 1 January 2021 to 
31 December 2021. 

The Board believes that the members collectively possess the knowledge and experience to supervise Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s 
financial management, internal and external auditors, the quality of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s financial controls, the preparation 
and evaluation of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s audited company financial statements and Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s periodic 
financial reporting.

The Board has established and maintains internal controls and procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. These are 
designed to manage the risk of business failures and to provide reasonable assurance against such failures. However, this is not a 
guarantee that such risks are eliminated.

Responsibility
It is the duty of the Audit Committee, inter alia, to monitor and review on a Company and Group (Company, Group or Company 
and Group) basis:

• the effectiveness of the internal audit function and by extension, the effectiveness of Group internal controls, see – Internal Audit 
(below)

• external auditor suitability and recommendation for appointment, see – Auditor suitability review (below)

• external auditor independence and fees, see – Auditor independence and fees (below)

• reports of both internal and external auditors

• evaluation of the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

• financial reporting systems and ensure that Group reporting procedures are functioning properly

• the governance of information technology (IT) and the effectiveness of the Company and Group’s information systems

• interim results and report (Interim Report), quarterly operating reports, company and consolidated annual financial statements 
(Audited AFS) and all other widely distributed financial documents

• the Form 20-F filing with the SEC

• accounting policies of the Company and Group and proposed revisions

• compliance with applicable legislation, requirements of appropriate regulatory authorities and Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s Code 
of Ethics

• policies and procedures for preventing and detecting fraud

• the integrity of the content of the Interim Report, Audited AFS and the integrated annual report and associated reports (IAR) and 
then recommending same to the Board for approval

Access and meetings
Internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee Chairman and the Chairman 
of the Board, ensuring that auditors are able to maintain their independence. Both the internal and external auditors report at Audit 
Committee meetings. The Audit Committee meets with internal audit and the SOX division on a quarterly basis without other invitees 
being present and the Audit committee Chairman meets with the external auditors on a quarterly basis without other invitees being 
present. Management attend Audit Committee meetings by invitation.

Annual financial statements of the Company
The Committee has reviewed and is satisfied that the Company Audited AFS, including accounting policies, are appropriate and 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 
the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the 
requirements of the Companies Act and JSE LR.

External auditor suitability review
In terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act, each year at its annual general meeting (AGM), the Company must appoint an 
external audit firm and designated individual partner in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE LR, 
respectively.

In terms of the JSE LR, the Audit Committee has the responsibility to review the Company’s current appointed audit firm and 
designated individual audit partner for re-appointment. After such review, the Audit Committee makes a recommendation to the 
Board, and the Board in turn considers same and then makes a recommendation to shareholders in the notice of AGM.

Report of the audit committee
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Accordingly, in compliance with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE LR, the Audit Committee assessed the suitability for reappointment 
of the current appointed audit firm, being Ernst & Young Inc., and the designated individual partner, being Lance Ian Neame 
Tomlinson (Auditor Suitability Review).

The Auditor Suitability Review performed by the Audit Committee included an examination and review of:

• the results of the most recent Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA) inspections of Ernst & Young Inc., including the 
responses of the firm on observations / findings on the firm and on selected audit files raised by IRBA

• the results of the most recent IRBA inspection of the designated individual auditor

• a summary of the audit firms ISQC 1 internal inspection process and the process to analyse and conclude on the results of the 
internal inspection (Internal Quality Review)

• a summary of the outcome of the designated individual partner’s latest Internal Quality Review

• the results of the most recent Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) inspection review of Ernst & Young Inc.

• a summary and results of all legal and disciplinary proceedings concluded within the past seven years, which were instituted in 
terms of any legislation or by any professional body of which the audit firm and/or designated individual auditor are a member or 
regulator to whom they are accountable, including where the matter is settled by consent order or payment of a fine

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that both Ernst & Young Inc. and Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson are accredited in terms of the 
JSE LR. Based on the results of the Auditor Suitability Review and a review of the independence of Ernst & Young Inc. and the 
designated individual audit partner, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that Ernst & Young Inc. be re-appointed as 
the auditors of the Company and that Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson be reappointed as the designated individual partner. The Board 
concurred with the recommendation.

Auditor independence and fees
The Audit Committee is also responsible for determining that the external audit firm and designated individual audit partner have 
the necessary independence, experience, qualifications and skills, and that audit and other fees are reviewed and approved.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and assessed the independence of the external auditor, that has confirmed in writing that the 
criteria for independence, as set out in the rules of IRBA, the PCAOB, and other relevant international bodies, have been followed. 
The Audit Committee is satisfied that Ernst & Young Inc. is independent of the Company and Group. 

The Audit Committee determines the nature and extent of non-audit services that the auditor can provide and pre-approves all 
permitted non-audit assignments by the Group’s external auditor. In accordance with the SEC rules regarding auditor 
independence, the Audit Committee has established policies and procedures for audit and non-audit services provided by the 
Group’s external auditor. The rules apply to Sibanye Stillwater Limited and it’s legally controlled unlisted subsidiaries engaging any 
accounting firms for audit services and the auditor who audits the consolidated Audited AFS filed with the SEC (the Group’s external 
auditor) for permissible non-audit services. When engaging the Group’s external auditor for permissible non-audit services 
(audit related services, tax services, and all other services), pre-approval is obtained prior to the commencement of the services.

The Audit Committee approves the respective annual audit plans presented by both the internal and external auditors and 
monitors progress against the plans. These audit plans provide the Audit Committee with the necessary assurance on risk 
management, internal control environments and IT governance. 

Internal audit
The internal control systems of the Company are monitored by Internal Audit, which reports findings and recommendations to the 
Audit Committee and to senior management. The Audit Committee determines the purpose, authority and responsibility of the 
Internal Audit function in an Internal Audit Charter. The Internal Audit function is headed by the Vice President: Internal Audit, who 
may be appointed or dismissed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the incumbent Vice President: 
Internal Audit has the requisite skills and experience and that she is supported by a sufficient staff complement with appropriate skills 
and training.

Sibanye Stillwater’s Internal Audit operates in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing as prescribed by the Institute of Internal Auditors. Internal Audit activities carried out during the year were identified and 
planned through a combination of the Sibanye Stillwater Risk Management framework and the risk-based methodologies adopted 
by Internal Audit. The Audit Committee approves the annual internal audit assurance plan presented by Internal Audit and monitors 
progress against the plan.

Internal Audit reports deficiencies to the Audit Committee every quarter together with recommended remedial actions, which are 
then followed up. Internal Audit provided the Audit Committee with a written report, which assessed as adequate the internal 
controls over financial reporting, IT governance and the risk management process during 2021.

The Audit Committee is responsible for IT governance on behalf of the Board and reviews the report of the Vice President: Group ICT 
at each Audit Committee meeting.

Report of the audit committee continued
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JSE LR
In accordance with the JSE LR, the Audit Committee reports and confirms that it has: 

• evaluated the expertise, experience and performance of the Company and Group CFO during 2021 and is satisfied that he has 
the appropriate expertise and experience to carry out his duties, and is supported by qualified and competent senior staff

• ensured that the Company has established appropriate financial reporting procedures and that those procedures are operating 
and that management had access to all the required financial information to allow the effective preparation and report on 
Company Audited AFS

• has performed the Auditor Suitability Review of both the current appointed external audit firm and designated individual audit 
partner as detailed above

• notwithstanding the provisions of Section 90(6) of the Companies Act, ensured that the proposed re-appointment of the audit firm 
and designated individual partner is presented and included as a resolution in the notice of annual general meeting pursuant to 
Section 61(8) of the Companies Act. 

Audit Committee statement
Based on information from, and discussions with, management and external auditors, the Audit Committee has no reason to 
believe that there were any material breakdowns in the design and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls of the 
Company during the year and therefore the financial records may be relied upon as the basis for preparation of the Company 
Audited AFS. 

The Audit Committee has considered and discussed the Company Audited AFS and associated reports with both management 
and the external auditors.

During this process, the Audit Committee:

• evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions

• determined that the going-concern basis of reporting is appropriate

• evaluated the material factors and risks that could impact on the Company Audited AFS

• evaluated the completeness of the financial and sustainability discussion and disclosures

• discussed the treatment of significant and unusual transactions with management and the external auditors

The Audit Committee considers that the Company Audited AFS comply in all material respects with all compliance requirements 
detailed earlier in this report. The Audit Committee recommended to the Board that Company Audited AFS be adopted and 
approved by the Board. The Board subsequently adopted and approved the Company Audited AFS.

Keith Rayner CA)SA)
Chairman: Audit Committee

22 April 2022

Report of the audit committee continued
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Company profile and nature of business
Sibanye Stillwater Limited (“the Company”) is an investment holding company, which commenced trading during the 2020 
financial year. 

Financial affairs
Results for the year
The profit for the year was R7,042 million compared with R20,403 million in 2020 and, since the Company is an investment holding 
company, was entirely attributable to investment income. Investment income comprised dividends received of R6,862 million 
(2020: R20,287 million) and interest income of R250 million (2020: R161 million).

Dividends
Sibanye Stillwater Limited declared a final dividend of 187 (2020: 321) SA cents per share, together with the interim dividend of 292 
(2020: 50) SA cents per share (declared and paid), this brings the total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 to 479 
(2020: 371) SA cents per share. 

Borrowing powers
In terms of Clause 4 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the borrowing powers of the Company are unlimited. As at 
31 December 2021, the Company had no external borrowings. 

Events after reporting date
There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company after 31 December 2021 up to 
the date on which the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue, other than 
those disclosed in the company financial statements, see –Notes to the financial statements–Note 12: Events after the reporting 
date.

Working capital and going concern assessment
The Company financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable 
judgements and estimates. The directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the 
foreseeable future.

The Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, therefore, have been prepared on a going concern 
basis, see –Notes to the financial statements–Note 11: Risk management activities.

Significant announcements
Establishment of Board Investment Committee and Committee appointments
On 17 February 2021, Sibanye-Stillwater announced in accordance with Section 3.59(c) of the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited, that pursuant to good corporate governance and its strategy, Sibanye-Stillwater’s Board of Directors ("Board”) 
has established a Board Investment Committee (“BIC”)to discharge a pivotal role in guiding and overseeing the allocation of 
capital and the Company’s investment activities. The Committee is Chaired by Mr R P Menell (Lead Independent Director) and 
Mr T J Cumming as the Deputy Chairman of the BIC. The BIC members comprise Mr K A Rayner, Ms S N Danson, Mr H J R Kenyon-
Slaney, Mr J S Vilakazi and Ms S V Zilwa. As such, the BIC constitutes entirely of Independent Non-Executive Directors.

In addition to above, Ms S V Zilwa, has been appointed as an additional member to the Audit, Risk and Safety and Health 
Committees and Mr K A Rayner as an additional member of the Nominating and Governance Committee, all these appointments 
were effective from 16 February 2021.

Sibanye-Stillwater announces share buy-back program
On 1 June 2021, Sibanye-Stillwater advised that it will be implementing an on-market repurchase of up to, but not exceeding, 5% of 
its ordinary shares in issue as at 31 May 2021 (the “buy-back program”). The buy-back program was consequential to the successful 
financial deleveraging and resumption of industry leading dividend payments by the Group during 2020 and is consistent with the 
strategic capital allocation framework approved by the Board in February 2021. The Group’s capital allocation framework for 2021 
prioritises investing in operational sustainability, maintaining appropriate cash reserves, paying industry leading dividends and 
prudent debt management.

The announcement indicated that the Board of Directors considers the repurchase of our undervalued shares in the market as the 
most appropriate and value enhancing allocation of surplus capital at that stage, to ensure ongoing delivery of superior returns to 
shareholders. It was advised that the buy-back program is complementary to and will not compromise our industry leading dividend 
or other capital allocation priorities.

In accordance with paragraph 5.72(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements, Sibanye-Stillwater advised that it has appointed Morgan 
Stanley, as independent third party, to conduct the buy-back programme, and Morgan Stanley will make investment decisions in 
relation to the Company's shares independently of, and uninfluenced by, the Company, during the buy-back period. Shares 
repurchased by the Company in terms of the buy-back programme will be cancelled from the Company's issued share capital. 

Directors’ report
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On 13 September 2021, Sibanye-Stillwater advised that in terms of paragraph 11.27 of the Listings Requirements, at the close of 
business on 10 September 2021, it had, in a series of unrelated transactions, cumulatively repurchased c.3% or 90,206,710 ordinary 
shares, in accordance with the general authority granted by shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 25 
May 2021 (“AGM”).

On 5 October 2021, Sibanye-Stillwater announced that it had successfully concluded the on-market repurchase of its ordinary 
shares up to, but not exceeding, 5% of its ordinary shares in issue, in accordance with the general authority granted by shareholders 
at the AGM. For additional information, see –Notes to the company financial statements– Note 8: Stated share capital.

Directorate
The table below sets out the changes in directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Name Position Date appointed

Vincent Maphai1 Chairman and independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Neal Froneman1 Chief Executive Officer 24 February 2020

Charl Keyter1 Chief Financial Officer 24 February 2020

Elaine Dorward-King Independent non-executive director 27 March 2020

Harry Kenyon-Slaney1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Jeremiah Vilakazi1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Keith Rayner1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Nkosemntu Nika1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Richard Menell1 Lead Independent and non-executive director 24 February 2020

Savannah Danson1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Susan van der Merwe1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Timothy Cumming1 Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020

Sindiswa Zilwa2 Independent non-executive director 01 January 2021
1 Director appointed to the Board of Sibanye Stillwater Limited on 24 February 2020 pursuant to the scheme of arrangement between Sibanye Gold 

Limited and Sibanye Stillwater Limited, which was implemented on the same day. On the date of implementing the scheme of arrangement, the 
existing directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited resigned and the directors of Sibanye Gold Limited were appointed to the board of Sibanye Stillwater 
Limited

2 Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa was appointed as an Independent non-executive director of the Group with effect from 1 January 2021. Sindiswa is a 
Chartered Accountant by profession and an expert in the areas of accounting, auditing and business management. Sindiswa is also a Chartered 
Director (SA) and has vast experience as a director in both the public and private sectors. She currently serves as a non-executive director of Cell C 
Limited, Discovery Group, Gijima Group Limited, Massmart Limited, Metrofile Holdings Limited, Mercedes-Benz South Africa Limited and Tourvest 
Group

Rotation of directors
Directors retiring in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) are Neal Froneman, Susan van der Merwe, 
Savannah Danson, and Harry Kenyon-Slaney. All the directors are eligible and offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and officers’ disclosure of interest in contracts
As of the date of this report, none of the directors, officers or major shareholders of Sibanye-Stillwater or, to the knowledge of 
Sibanye-Stillwater’s management, their families, had any interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction during the last fiscal year or in 
any proposed transaction which has affected or will materially affect Sibanye-Stillwater or its investment interests or subsidiaries. 

None of the directors or officers of Sibanye-Stillwater or any associate of such director or officer is currently or has been at any time 
during the past fiscal year materially indebted to Sibanye-Stillwater.

For related party information, see –Notes to the company financial statements – Note 10: Related-party transactions.

Litigation
There were no litigation matters against the Company at 31 December 2021. 

Company Secretary
Lerato Matlosa was appointed Company Secretary of Sibanye-Stillwater with effect from 1 June 2018.

Auditors
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Ernst & Young Inc. continues in office in accordance with section 90(1) 
of the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, subject to shareholders approving the resolution at the next 
annual general meeting. For additional information see –Accountability–Report of the Audit Committee–External Auditor suitability 
review.

Directors’ report continued
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Sibanye Stillwater Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements
Opinion 

We have audited the separate financial statements of Sibanye Stillwater Limited (‘the company’) set out on pages 10 to 32 which 
comprise the separate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the separate statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the separate statement of changes in equity and the separate statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate financial position of the 
company as at 31 December 2021, and its separate financial performance and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
of the company and in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of the company and in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Other Information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 33-page 
document titled “Company Financial Statements 2021”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and 
the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the 
separate financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

EY Ernst & Young Incorporated 

102 Rivonia Road Sandton Co Reg. No. 2005/002308/21

Private Bag X14 Sandton Tel: +27 (0) 11 772 3000 

2146 Fax: +27 (0) 11 772 4000 

Docex 123 Randburg 

ey.com
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Ernst & Young 
Incorporated has been the auditor of Sibanye Stillwater Limited for three years.

Ernst & Young Incorporated
Director – Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)
102 Rivonia Road, Sandton
Johannesburg, South Africa 

22 April 2022
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Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2021 2020

Investment income 4 7,112 20,448

- Interest income 250 161

- Other investment income 6,862 20,287

Profit before tax 7,112 20,448

Income tax 6.1 (70) (45)

Profit for the period1 7,042 20,403

1 Profit for the period equals total comprehensive income as there was no other comprehensive income for the 2021 or 2020 financial years

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements.

Company income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2021 2020

ASSETS

Non-current assets  38,374  49,341 

Investments in subsidiaries 7  38,374  36,736 

Related party loans 10.2  —  12,605 

Current assets  15  45 

Related party loans 10.2  —  45 

Cash and cash equivalents 5  15 -*

Total assets  38,389  49,386 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity and reserves  30,181  49,341 

Stated share capital 8  21,647  30,150 

Share-based payment reserve 9  259  126 

Accumulated profit  8,275  19,065 

Current Liabilities  8,208  45 

Tax payable 6.2  —  45 

Related party loans 10.2  8,208  — 

Total equity and liabilities  38,389  49,386 

* Less than R1 million

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements.

Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2021

Sibanye-Stillwater Company Financial Statements 2021                                           11



*

Figures in million - SA rand Notes
Stated share 

capital 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
Accumulated 

profit Total  equity 

Balance at 31 December 2019 — — — -*

Profit and total comprehensive income for the period — — 20,403 20,403

Reorganisation - 24 February 2020 8 17,661 — — 17,661

Shares issued upon conversion of SGL's US$ Convertible 
Bond 10.2 12,573 — — 12,573

Share buy-back 8 (84) — — (84)

Dividends 3 — — (1,338) (1,338)

Share-based payments 7, 9 — 126 — 126

Balance at 31 December 2020 30,150 126 19,065 49,341

Profit and total comprehensive income for the period — — 7,042 7,042

Share buy-back 8 (8,503) — — (8,503)

Dividends 3 — — (17,832) (17,832)

Share-based payments 7, 9 — 133 — 133

Balance at 31 December 2021 21,647 259 8,275 30,181

*  Less than R1 million

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements.

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 7,112 20,448

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Investment income 4 (7,112) (20,448)

— —

Interest received 4 15 —

Dividends paid 3 (8,347) —

Net cash used in operating activities (8,332) —

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of investment in Sibanye Battery Metals Proprietary Limited (Battery Metals) 7 (1,233) —
Loans repaid by subsidiaries 10.2 7,755 —
Net cash from investing activities 6,522 —

Cash flow from financing activities

Share buy-back 8 (6,345) —

Loans received from subsidiaries 10.2 8,170 —

Net cash from financing activities 1,825 —

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15 —

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year — —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5 15 —

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements.

Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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1.       Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.  Where 
an accounting policy is specific to a note, the policy is described in the note which it relates to. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented (where applicable).

1.1     Reporting entity

Sibanye Stillwater Limited (SSW or the Company) is an investment holding company domiciled in South Africa. These 
separate annual financial statements include the results of SSW on a stand-alone company basis.

1.2     Basis of preparation

The company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well 
as the requirements of the South African Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements. The company financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency) which is South African rand. The company financial 
statements are also presented in South African rand, which is the Company’s presentation currency. The annual financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s directors on 22 April 2022.
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards 

During the financial year, the following new and revised accounting standards and amendments to standards, that are 
applicable to the Company, became effective and had no significant impact on the Company’s financial statements:

Pronouncement Details of amendments Effective date1

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)

Interbank offered rates (IBOR) reform refers to the global reform of 
interest rate benchmarks, which includes the replacement of some 
interbank offered rates with alternative benchmark rates. Under the 
detailed rules of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9), modifying a 
financial contract can require recognition of a significant gain or loss 
in the income statement. However, the amendments introduce a 
practical expedient if a change results directly from IBOR reform and 
occurs on an ‘economically equivalent’ basis. In these cases, 
changes will be accounted for by updating the effective interest 
rate. A similar practical expedient will apply under IFRS 16 Leases 
(IFRS 16) for lessees when accounting for lease modifications 
required by IBOR reform. IBOR reform will generally result in a change 
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of that 
financial asset or financial liability. 

The loan receivable from Sibanye Gold Proprietary Limited (SGL) was 
linked to JIBAR (refer note 10.2). However, the JIBAR is only expected 
to be impacted by the reform at a later stage. In addition, the loan 
was fully repaid during 2021. Therefore, the Company was not 
impacted when the amendment became effective. 

The Group will assess the impact on the balances and cash flows 
linked to rates changes arising from IBOR reform when more 
information is available on the quoted rates that will replace the 
current IBOR to the extent that there are instrument impacted. The 
potential impact arising from these amendments on future 
transactions was not known at the reporting date.

1 January 2021

1 Effective date refers to annual period beginning on or after said date

Notes to the company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards which are not yet effective

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that apply to the 
Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 but have not been early adopted by the Company. 
The standards, amendments and interpretations that are applicable to the Company are:

Pronouncement Details of amendments Effective date1

Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework (Amendments to 
IFRS 3)2

Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (IFRS 3) 
to update the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting and add an exception for the recognition of liabilities and 
contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets (IAS 37) and IFRIC 21 Levies (IFRIC 21). 
The amendments also confirm that contingent assets should not be 
recognised at the acquisition date.

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2018-20202

As part of its process to make non-urgent but necessary amendments 
to IFRS Standards, the IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2018–2020. The amendments applicable to the Company 
relate to IFRS 9, and clarifies which fees should be included in the 10% 
test for derecognition of financial liabilities.

1 January 2022

Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current 
(Amendments to IAS 1)2

To promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining if a liability is current or non-current, the IASB has amended 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1) to clarify that liabilities 
are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights 
that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected 
by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date 
(e.g. the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The 
amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it refers to the 
“settlement” of a liability.

1 January 2023

Definition of Accounting 
Estimate (Amendments to 
IAS 8)2

The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (IAS 8) to clarify how 
entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes 
in accounting estimates, with a primary focus on the definition of and 
clarifications on accounting estimates. This is due to the term 
"accounting estimate" not being defined and the previous definition of 
a "change in accounting estimate" being unclear. 

The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates, 
clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the financial statements 
that are subject to measurement uncertainty.

1 January 2023

Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 
and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2)2

To assist preparers of financial statements, the IASB had previously 
refined its definition of ‘material’ (effective 1 Jan 2020) and issued non-
mandatory practical guidance on applying the concept of materiality.  
As the final step of the materiality improvements, the IASB issued 
amendments on the application of materiality to the disclosure of 
accounting policies. The key amendments include requirements for 
entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their 
significant accounting policies as well as certain clarifications 
regarding accounting policies related to material transactions or 
events.

1 January 2023

1 Effective date refers to annual period beginning on or after said date
2 No material impact expected

1.3     Transactions with shareholders of the Company

Transactions with owners in the capacity as equity participants are not recognised in profit or loss, but instead are 
recognised in equity with a corresponding change in assets or liabilities.

1.4     Comparatives

Previously, the level of rounding applied in the Company’s annual financial statements included a decimal for the nearest 
hundred thousand. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company changed the level of rounding to only reflect 
the nearest million by removing the hundred thousand decimal space. Immaterial rounding adjustments were made to 
comparative information as a result of this change.

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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2.      Statement of cash flows, segment report and earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2020, no statement of cash flows was presented as the Company did not have a bank 
account. Therefore, all transactions that occurred during 2020 were charged to an intercompany loan account with 
Sibanye Gold Proprietary Limited (SGL) (refer note 10.2). Any administrative expenses were borne by SGL and all transactions 
reflected on the income statement and statement of financial position were non-cash in nature. There was no flow of cash 
during 2020. 

Certain transactions and costs incurred during the year were also charged to the intercompany loan account with SGL 
where those transactions or costs were settled on behalf of the Company, and consequently treated as repayments of the 
loan outstanding by SGL. These repayments represent non-cash flow items (refer note 10.2). However, during the year, a 
bank account was opened for the Company and the flow of cash  was therefore presented in the statement of cash flows.

Since the Company presents both separate and consolidated financial statements, filed in separate reports on the same 
day, no earnings per share, diluted earnings per share, headline earnings per share and diluted headline earnings per share 
is presented. The Company also had no operating segments and accordingly no segment report is presented. 

3.      Dividends

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Dividend declared and paid (interim)  8,347 1,338

Dividend declared after the reporting date (final)  5,252 9,485

Total dividends declared for the financial year  13,599 10,823

Dividend per share (interim) - cents  292 50

Dividend per share (final) - cents  187 321

Dividends for the year ended 31 December 2021

In line with the SSW group’s (the Group) capital allocation framework, the Board of Directors of SSW resolved after the 
financial year end to pay a final dividend of 187 SA cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of 292 SA cents per 
share, which was declared and paid during the 2021 financial year, this brings the total dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2021 to 479 cents per share.

Dividends for the year ended 31 December 2020

The Board of Directors of the SSW resolved after the 2020 financial year end to pay a final dividend of 321 SA cents per 
share. Together with the interim dividend of 50 SA cents per share, which was declared and paid during the 2020 financial 
year, this resulted in a total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 of 371 cents per share.

A dividend of R1,338 million was declared to SSW by SGL as a funding mechanism for the dividend paid to shareholders by 
SSW. As SSW did not have a bank account in 2020, the dividend was paid to SSW shareholders on behalf of SSW by SGL.

Cash flow in respect of dividends

The final dividend declared by SSW amounting to R9,485 million (187 SA cents per share) relating to FY2020 was settled on 
behalf of SSW by SGL in FY2021, and was treated as a repayment of the loan receivable from SGL (refer note 10.2). 
There was therefore no cash flow impact on SSW. 

The interim dividend declared by SSW amounting to R8,347 million (292 SA cents per share) relating to FY2021 was settled in 
cash by SSW (following the opening of the SSW bank account). The total dividends paid for FY2021 amounts to 
R17,832 million.

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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4.      Investment income

Accounting policy

Investment income comprises interest income on intercompany loans receivable and dividends received from subsidiaries, 
which include in specie dividends received. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend 
income is recognised on the date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established. In specie dividends received 
as a result of common control group transactions are recognised at the carrying amount of the asset received on the 
effective date of distribution.

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

In specie dividend received from Sibanye Platinum Proprietary Limited (SPPL)1  —  18,949 

Intercompany dividends received2  6,862  1,338 

Intercompany interest received from subsidiaries  235  161 

Interest received on cash deposits  15  — 

Balance at end of the year  7,112  20,448 

1 Refer note 7
2 SPPL declared a dividend to the Company which was received by SGL on behalf of the Company. This amount was debited to the 

intercompany loan receivable from SGL (refer note 10.2). In 2020, SGL declared a dividend to the Company as part of the mechanism to 
fund the dividend paid by the Company to its shareholders (refer note 3)

5.      Cash and cash equivalents

Accounting policy

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and are measured at amortised cost, which is deemed to be fair value 
due to its short-term maturity.

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Cash at the bank and on hand1  15  — 

Total cash and cash equivalents  15  — 

1 The balance at 31 December 2020 is less than R1 million and was made up of petty cash

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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6.      Income tax

Accounting policy
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax (if any). Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is measured on taxable income at the applicable statutory rate enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date and is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related 
to income taxes, if any.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences existing at each reporting date between the tax values of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. These temporary differences are 
expected to result in taxable or deductible amounts in determining taxable profits for future periods when the carrying 
amount of the asset is recovered or the liability is settled. Enacted and substantively enacted tax rates are used to determine 
future anticipated effective tax rates, which in turn are used in the determination of deferred tax.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates and joint ventures to the extent that 
the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that these will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill

Deferred tax assets relating to the carry forward of unutilised tax losses and/or unutilised capital allowances are recognised 
to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unutilised tax losses and/or unutilised 
capital allowances can be recovered. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted if recovery 
is no longer probable.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

Company tax rate

The Company is subject to the maximum South African company tax rate of 28%

6.1     Income tax

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Income tax expense (70) (45)

Total income tax (70) (45)

Reconciliation of the Company’s income tax to the South African statutory company tax rate of 28%:

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Tax on profit before tax at maximum South African statutory company tax rate (28%)  (1,991)  (5,725) 

Non-taxable dividends received  1,921  5,680 

Income tax expense (70)  (45) 

Effective tax rate  1.0 %  0.2 %

6.2     Tax payable

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Balance at beginning of the year  45  — 

Current tax charge  70  45 

Payments made1  (115)  — 

Balance at end of the year  —  45 

1 The tax payment for 2021 was made on behalf of the Company by SGL and treated as a repayment on the intercompany loan 
(refer note 10.2)

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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7.      Investments in subsidiaries

Accounting policy

Investments in subsidiaries

The carrying amount of a subsidiary is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In specie distributions of 
investments received from subsidiaries are considered to be group transactions under common control. These distributions 
are recognised at the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements of the relevant subsidiary at 
the date of distribution and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

The carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. If any such indication exists, the investment’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an 
investment in subsidiary is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount is 
estimated considering the net asset value of the subsidiary supplemented by unobservable financial information such as 
estimated future cash flows. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an investment exceeds 
its recoverable amount.

Investments in subsidiaries

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

The company has a 100% beneficial holding in:

SGL1  17,884  17,767 

SPPL2  18,949  18,949 

Battery Metals3  1,505  — 

Stillwater Mining Company (Stillwater)4, 5  36  20 

Balance at end of the year  38,374  36,736 

1 SSW obtained a 100% beneficial interest in SGL (domiciled in South Africa) on 24 February 2020 when the Scheme was implemented (refer 
note 8). The increase of the investment in SGL consists of R117 million (2020: R106 million) arising from the equity-settled share-based payments 
(refer note 9). A corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve amounting to R117 million (2020: R106 million) was recognised

2 Effective 17 June 2020, SSW and SGL entered into an unbundling agreement wherein SGL unbundled its entire shareholding in SPPL 
(domiciled in South Africa) for no value to SSW. SSW holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares in SGL, and SGL in turn held 100% of the issued 
ordinary shares in SPPL before the unbundling. The investment in SPPL was recognised at the carrying value of the investment in SGL’s 
financial statements at the effective date of the unbundling being R18,949 million, with the credit entry being a non-cash in specie dividend 
received from SGL, which was recognised in profit or loss  

3 The investment relates to the acquisition of a 100% shareholding in Battery Metals (domiciled in South Africa) as part of the structuring of a 
battery metals subgroup to hold SSW’s investments in battery metal entities in line with the Group’s battery metal strategy. Battery Metals 
holds an investment in Keliber Oy (Keliber) and ioneer Limited (ioneer). R272 million of this investment was settled by SGL on behalf of SSW 
and was treated as a repayment of the intercompany loan receivable from SGL and represents a non-cash flow item (refer note 10.2)

4 The increase of R16 million (2020: R20 million) in the beneficial investment indirectly held in Stillwater through SPPL arises from the equity-
settled share-based payments (refer note 9). A corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve amounting to R16 million 
(2020: R20 million) was recognised

5 Stillwater Mining Company is domiciled in the United States of America
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8.      Stated share capital

Accounting policy
Ordinary share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Authorised share capital

The Company has an authorised share capital of 10 billion ordinary no par value shares (2020: 10 billion ordinary no par 
value shares).

The Scheme

On 4 October 2019 SGL and SSW, a previously dormant wholly owned subsidiary of SGL, announced the intention to 
implement a scheme of arrangement to reorganise SGL’s operations under a new parent company, SSW (the “Scheme”). 
The Scheme was implemented through the issue of SSW shares (tickers: JSE – SSW and NYSE – SBSW) in exchange for the 
existing shares of SGL (JSE – SGL and NYSE – SBGL).

On 23 January 2020 SGL and SSW announced that all resolutions for the approval of the Scheme, were passed by the 
requisite majority voters at the Scheme meeting held at the Sibanye Gold Limited Academy. The Scheme was implemented 
on 24 February 2020.

From a consolidated group perspective, SSW determined that the acquisition of SGL did not represent a business 
combination as defined by IFRS 3. This is because neither party to the Scheme could be identified as an accounting acquirer 
in the transaction, and post the implementation there would be no change of economic substance or ownership in the SGL 
Group. The SGL shareholders have the same commercial and economic interest as they had prior to the implementation of 
the Scheme and no additional new ordinary shares of SGL were issued as part of the Scheme. 

In order to effect the reorganisation in the separate financial statements of SSW, the cost of the investment in SGL was 
measured at the carrying amount of the total net assets in the separate financial statements of SGL at the implementation, 
24 February 2020, amounting to R17,661 million (i.e. the total equity of SGL at that date). A corresponding increase in stated 
share capital was recognised.

The below table illustrates a roll forward of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company at 31 December 2021: 

Figures in thousands 2021 2020

Reconciliation of issued number of shares:

Number of shares in issue at beginning of the year1 2,923,571  -* 

Scheme implemented2 — 2,670,030

Shares issued under SSW Share Plan3 32,535 6,932

Issued upon conversion of US$ Convertible Bond4 — 248,040

Shares delisted (share buy-back)5, 6 (147,700) (1,431)

Number of shares in issue at end of the year 2,808,406 2,923,571

1 Since the Scheme was retrospectively implemented, the stated share capital presented in the statement of changes in equity at 31 
December 2020 reflects the legally issued shares of SSW from the earliest period presented, being one ordinary share at 31 December 2019

2 From 1 January 2020 to 23 February 2020, no shares were issued. The Scheme was implemented on a share-for-share basis with no change in 
the total number of SGL issued listed shares

3 Upon implementation of the Scheme, the SGL equity-settled share plan was transferred to SSW and is settled in SSW shares from the effective 
date onwards

4 As a result of the Scheme, the US$ Convertible Bond (the Bond) was settled in SSW shares, even though SGL was the issuer of the Bond. Refer 
note 10.2 for more detail regarding the settlement of the Bond and the structure of the loan facility to fund the settlement

5 SSW commenced with a share buy-back programme on 2 June 2021 to repurchase up to 5% of its ordinary shares as at 31 May 2021 
representing a maximum of 147,700,000 shares. The programme concluded on 4 October 2021 when the maximum number of shares were 
reached. The total cost amounted to R8,503 million, including transaction cost of R420 million.  The average cost per share repurchased 
amounted to R57.57. A portion of the share buy-back costs were settled by SGL on behalf of SSW (refer note 10.2). In 2020, SSW entered into 
a repurchase and cancellation of shares agreement with certain shareholders which resulted in the total issued shares decreasing by 
1,431,197 shares, paid by SGL on behalf of SSW. The average price paid per share amounted to R58.80

6 R2,158 million related to the share buy-back was settled on behalf of SSW by SGL, and was treated as a repayment of the intercompany loan 
receivable from SGL (refer note 10.2). The remaining costs were settled in cash by SSW

*  Less than one thousand

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Sibanye-Stillwater Company Financial Statements 2021                                           20



9.      Share-based payments

Accounting policy
Equity-settled share-based payments
The Company operates an equity-settled compensation plan in which certain employees of the Group participate. Fair 
value of equity-settled instruments granted is estimated using appropriate valuation models and appropriate assumptions at 
the grant date. Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when estimating the fair value 
of the equity-settled instruments at grant date. Market conditions are taken into account in determining the fair value at 
grant date.

From the effective date of the Scheme, the grant date fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment instruments is 
capitalised to investments in subsidiaries (refer note 7) where participating employees render services over the vesting period 
based on an estimate of the number of instruments that will eventually vest. A corresponding increase in the share-based 
payment reserve is recognised. Vesting assumptions for non-market conditions are reviewed at each reporting date to 
ensure they reflect current expectations.

On 21 November 2012, the shareholders of SGL approved the adoption of the SGL 2013 share plan (2013 Share Plan) with 
effect from the date of the listing of SGL. The 2013 Share Plan provided for two methods of participation, namely Bonus 
Shares and Performance Shares. This plan sought to attract, retain, motivate and reward participating employees on a basis 
which seeks to align the interest of such employees with those of the shareholders. On 23 May 2017, the shareholders of SGL 
approved the adoption of the 2017 share plan (2017 Share Plan) on essentially similar terms to the previous 2013 Share Plan. 
At the annual general meeting on 30 May 2018, the directors of SGL were authorised to issue and allot all or any of such 
shares required for the 2017 Share Plan, up to a maximum not exceeding 86,748,850 shares. Under the 2017 Share Plan, an 
individual participant’s awards were limited to an aggregate 8,674,885 shares. 

Following the implementation of the Scheme (refer note 8), the terms and conditions of the 2013 and 2017 Share Plan 
remained the same. However, SSW replaced SGL as the company whose shares will be received upon settlement. Since the 
employees participating in these plans only render services to subsidiaries of SSW, share-based payment expenses are 
recognised as increases in investments in subsidiaries with corresponding increases in the share-based payment reserve 
(refer note 7). Total share-based payment expenses recognised in the share-based payment reserve and capitalised to 
investments in subsidiaries amounted to R133 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: R126 million).

Bonus Shares – as part of the short-term incentive
The Remuneration Committee makes an annual award of Bonus Shares to eligible participants as a share-based component 
of the short-term incentive scheme, with the last awards granted in 2019.

The total annual bonus was determined by reference to the actual performance rating of the individual against 
predetermined targets for the preceding cycle and was comprised of cash plus the face value of restricted Bonus Shares in 
the ratio of 60:40.

In other words, 40% of the annual bonus was awarded using the Company’s shares as the “currency”, as opposed to cash, 
access to which is deferred. As such, the Bonus Shares vest in two equal tranches, nine months and 18 months after the 
award date. Except for the right to dispose of the shares, participants have full shareholder rights in the unvested Bonus 
Shares during the restricted period, including the right to receive dividends.

The number of shares awarded is determined by dividing the face value of the Bonus Shares portion of the annual bonus by 
the volume-weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares over the three days immediately prior to the award 
date. 

Performance Shares – for the long-term incentive

The Remuneration Committee made an annual award of Performance Shares to eligible participants as part of its long-term 
incentive scheme. The last of these awards were granted in 2019. The number of Performance Shares awarded to an 
employee was based on the employee’s annual guaranteed pay and job grade combined with a factor related to the 
employee’s assessed performance rating for the prior year and using the relevant share price calculation (as for the Bonus 
Shares) at the award date, with ultimate vesting of those awards subject to performance conditions as approved by the 
Remuneration Committee.

With effect from March 2016, in respect of the award of Performance Shares at that time and at any time thereafter (subject 
to any future agreed changes), an updated methodology was approved by the Remuneration Committee regarding the 
performance conditions applicable to the determination of the amount of Performance Shares that will vest at the end of 
the vesting period (which is three years from the date of the award).

Essentially, the number of shares that vest depends on the extent to which Sibanye-Stillwater has performed over the 
intervening three year period relative to two performance criteria, Total Shareholder Return (TSR) and Return on Capital 
Employed (ROCE). These are among the most widely acceptable vesting performance measures suited to aligning the 
outcome of long-term share incentive awards with shareholders’ interests.
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In addition, at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee, up to 20% of the determined number of vesting shares 
using the two performance criteria is liable to forfeiture in the event of any extreme environmental, social, and governance 
(ESG) incidents occurring during the vesting period.

The number of the Performance Shares awarded that will finally vest three years after the award will range between 0% and 
100% dependent on the extent to which the two performance criteria have been met and whether the Remuneration 
Committee has applied its further discretion to reduce the award on the basis mentioned above.

The details of these two performance conditions are provided below.

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) – 70% Weighting

TSR has been widely recognised as an appropriate indicator of shareholder value creation. It is used extensively 
internationally and increasingly in South Africa, sometimes as a single metric but most often as one of two or three weighted 
performance metrics. In some company share plans, an absolute target is set, but more often it is referenced in relation to 
the company’s share price relative to those of a group of peers or ‘comparator companies’.

In SSW’s case, the TSR element is measured against a benchmark of eight peer group mining and resource companies that 
can be deemed to collectively represent an alternative investment portfolio for Sibanye-Stillwater’s shareholders (Peer 
Group). The Peer Group comprises similar market capitalisation companies that are reflective of the expected positioning of 
SSW over the medium term as a value driven multi-commodity resources company with a specific focus on gold and 
platinum. 

The Peer Group is set out in the table below.

Peer group companies for TSR comparison

AngloGold Ashanti Limited

Anglo American Platinum Limited

Gold Fields Limited

Impala Platinum Holdings Limited

Northam Platinum Limited

Exxaro Resources Limited

Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited

African Rainbow Minerals Limited

SSW’s TSR over the vesting period is compared with the Peer Group TSR curve constructed on a market capitalisation 
weighted basis. The annualised TSR over the vesting period (TSRANN) is determined for each of the companies in the Peer 
Group. The Peer Group companies are sorted from lowest to highest TSRANN. The average market capitalisation based on 
daily closing price is determined for each company, and each peer company is assigned its proportion of the overall 
average market capitalisation of the Peer Group. The peer company TSR curve is plotted at the midpoint of each 
company’s percentage of Peer Group market capitalisation on a cumulative basis above the worse performing companies 
in the Peer Group. In the event that one or more of the peer companies become ineligible for comparison, a peer company 
curve based on the companies remaining in the Peer Group is utilised.

The cumulative position of SSW’s TSRANN is then mapped onto the TSR curve for the Peer Group to determine the percentile 
at which SSW performed over the vesting period. The performance curve governing vesting is set out in the table below with 
linear interpolation applied between the indicated levels.

TSR element of performance conditions

Percentile on peer group TSR curve % vesting

0% 0%

10% 0%

20% 0%

30% 5%

40% 20%

50% 35%

60% 55%

70% 75%

80% 90%

90% 100%

100% 100%
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Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) – 30% Weighting

ROCE is a profitability metric that measures how efficiently a company generates profits from its capital employed. There is 
an increased focus on measuring the returns earned by businesses on the capital deployed by shareholders over and 
above the steady low risk returns typically available on financial markets.

For SSW, ROCE is evaluated against the company’s cost of equity (Ke). A minimum threshold on the performance scale for 
ROCE is set as equaling the cost of equity, Ke, which would lead to the ROCE element contributing 0% towards the 
performance condition. Delivering a return that exceeds Ke by 6% or more would be regarded as a superior return 
representing the maximum 100% on the performance scale and full vesting in respect of the ROCE element. The 
performance curve governing vesting is set out in the table below, with linear interpolation between the indicated levels.

ROCE element of performance condition

Annual ROCE % vesting

≤Ke 0.0%

Ke + 1% 16.7%

Ke + 2% 33.3%

Ke + 3% 50.0%

Ke + 4% 66.7%

Ke + 5% 83.3%

Ke + 6% 100.0%

The overall vesting is determined by applying the TSR performance condition to 70% of awarded shares element and the 
ROCE performance condition to 30% of awarded shares – plus any further discretionary reduction in the award based on the 
Remuneration Committee’s judgement regarding ESG issues mentioned above.

Valuation model and inputs

A Monte Carlo Simulation model was used to value equity-settled share-based payment awards issued by SGL in prior 
periods before implementation of the Scheme. There were no new equity-settled share-based payment awards made by 
SSW since it became the settling entity in the share plans. 

Share awards granted, exercised and forfeited under the 2017 Share Plan

Performance shares Bonus shares

2020 2021 Number of instruments 2021 2020

 68,236,442  62,597,425 Outstanding at beginning of the year1  —  2,582,489 

Movement during the year:

 (1,005,668)  (32,299,213) Vested  —  (2,541,680) 

 (4,633,349)  (5,098,696) Forfeited  —  (40,809) 

 62,597,425  25,199,516 Outstanding at end of the year  —  — 

1 There were no material movements in share awards between 1 January 2020 and 24 February 2020

Share awards granted, exercised and forfeited under the 2013 Share Plan

Performance shares Bonus shares

2020 2021 Number of instruments 2021 2020

 11,157,460  — Outstanding at beginning of the year1  —  — 

Movement during the year:

 (5,055,647)  — Vested  —  — 

 (6,101,813)  — Forfeited  —  — 

 —  — Outstanding at end of the year  —  — 

1 There were no material movements in share awards between 1 January 2020 and 24 February 2020
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Directors’ and prescribed officers’ equity-settled instruments

The directors and prescribed officers of SSW held the following equity-settled instruments in the above 2017 Share Plan and 
2013 Share Plan at 31 December 2021:

2020
Instruments 

granted
Equity-settled instruments

vested during the year
Instruments 

forfeited 2021

Number of 
instruments1

Number of 
instruments

Number of 
instruments

Average
price

Share
proceeds

(rand)2
Number of 

instruments
Number of 

instruments

Executive directors

Neal Froneman3  7,367,415  —  4,002,071  66.04  264,277,984  438,753  2,926,591 
Charl Keyter  3,537,172  —  2,037,730  62.99  128,348,469  223,401  1,276,041 
Prescribed officers4

Dawie Mostert  1,806,597  —  989,754  62.99  62,340,634  108,510  708,333 
Themba Nkosi  1,545,938  —  795,975  62.99  50,135,281  87,265  662,698 
Richard Stewart  2,092,644  —  1,135,892  62.99  71,545,294  124,531  832,221 
Robert van Niekerk  2,977,711  —  1,633,445  62.99  102,884,170  175,258  1,169,008 

1 Prior to the implementation of the Scheme, the share awards were issued and settled by SGL. From 24 February 2020, all share awards are 
settled by the Company. No new equity-settled instruments were issued since 2019 

2 Amounts represent earnings taxable in the hands of the participants. These were calculated by taking vesting date closing share prices of 
the Company multiplied by the number of vested units 

3 Numbers include American Depositary Receipts and JSE listed shares and as a result of the dual service contract
4 In FY2021, the Company introduced a new executive level of management (referred to as the C-suite). Therefore from FY2021, only C-suite 

members are disclosed as prescribed officers of the Company. In FY2020, the following individuals were also disclosed as prescribed officers:

• Chris Bateman - 827,604 number of instruments at 31 December 2020 (ceased performing an Executive Vice President (EVP) role on 6 
September 2020)

• Shadwick Bessit - 1,319,721 number of instruments at 31 December 2020 (ceased performing an EVP role on 16 January 2021)
• Wayne Robinson - 1,848,201 number of instruments at 31 December 2020 (not a C-suite member)

10.    Related party transactions

The Company entered into related-party transactions with key management and its subsidiaries during the year as detailed 
below. Other than intercompany loans, the transactions with these related parties are generally conducted on terms 
comparable to transactions with third parties.

Refer to the following notes for additional related party disclosures:

• Note 4: Investment income – Detail provided on income from related parties

• Note 7: Investments in subsidiaries - List of subsidiaries, which provides further detail on the relationship between the 
Company and its subsidiaries
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10.1   Key management remuneration

The disclosure below incorporates remuneration for services rendered to various companies within the Group during the 
year.

The executive directors and prescribed officers earned the following remuneration in the Group during the year and paid by 
SGL for SA employees and Stillwater for US employees:

Figures in thousands - SA rand Salary

Cash 
bonus 

accrued 
for 2021 
paid in 

2022

Accrual of 
share-
based 

payment 
benefits

Pension 
scheme total 
contributions

Expense 
allowance 
and other 

benefits 2021 2020
Executive directors

Neal Froneman1  12,427  7,793  269,473  825  1,064  291,582  57,973 

Charl Keyter  6,601  4,204  131,151  943  529  143,428  28,963 

Prescribed officers2

Dawie Mostert  4,206  2,590  64,068  573  297  71,734  16,655 

Themba Nkosi  3,930  2,378  51,720  362  258  58,648  15,286 

Richard Stewart  5,175  3,251  73,712  575  298  83,011  18,873 

Robert van Niekerk  5,331  3,254  105,053  592  456  114,686  22,975 

Laurent Charbonnier3  10,084  4,870  3,247  81  5,190  23,472  2,614 

Lerato Legong4  3,447  2,192  1,461  470  109  7,679  2,875 

Mika Seitovirta5  245  —  —  —  —  245  — 

Cheryl Van Zyl6  —  —  —  —  —  —  291 

Martin van der Walt6  —  —  —  —  —  —  657 

Pieter Henning6  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,104 

Philip van der Westhuizen6  —  —  —  —  —  —  305 

Total  51,446  30,532  699,885  4,421  8,201  794,485  168,571 

1 Entered into a dual service contract with effect 1 January 2020. Remuneration paid by Stillwater in US dollars was converted at the average 
exchange rate of R14.79/US$ (2020: R16.46/US$) for the year ended 31 December 2021

2 In FY2021, the Company introduced a new executive level of management (referred to as the C-suite). Therefore from FY2021, only C-suite 
members are disclosed as prescribed officers of the Company. In FY2020, the following individuals were also disclosed as prescribed officers:

• Chris Bateman - total remuneration of R66,959 thousand for FY2020 (ceased performing an EVP role on 6 September 2020)

• Shadwick Bessit - total remuneration of R14,789 thousand for FY2020 (ceased performing an EVP role on 16 January 2021)

• Hartley Dikgale - total remuneration of R29,159 thousand for FY2020 (ceased performing an EVP role on 31 March 2020)

• Wayne Robinson - total remuneration of R19,272 thousand for FY2020 (not a C-suite member)
3 Assumed a prescribed officer role on 16 November 2020, remuneration paid in GBP was converted at the average exchange rate of R20.33/

GBP (2020: R21.10/GBP) for the year ended 31 December 2021
4 Assumed a prescribed officer role on 1 September 2020
5 Assumed a prescribed officer role on 14 December 2021
6 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 24 February 2020 as a result of the Scheme implemented
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The non-executive directors earned the following fees in the Group during the year:

Figures in thousands - SA rand
Directors 

fees
Committee 

fees
Expense 

allowance 2021 2020
Timothy Cumming  1,081  1,140  8  2,229  1,909 

Savannah Danson  1,081  981  —  2,062  1,680 

Harry Kenyon-Slaney  1,243  1,102  24  2,369  2,114 

Richard Menell  2,194  525  —  2,719  2,114 

Nkosemntu Nika  1,081  661  —  1,742  1,708 

Keith Rayner  1,081  1,304  —  2,385  1,864 

Susan van der Merwe  1,081  661  —  1,742  1,716 

Jeremiah Vilakazi  1,081  714  —  1,795  1,422 

Vincent Maphai  3,265  —  —  3,265  2,756 

Elaine Dorward-King1  1,243  351  24  1,618  1,107 

Sindiswa Zilwa2  1,081  726  —  1,807  — 

Wang Bin3  —  —  —  —  327 

Lu Jiongjie3  —  —  —  —  327 

Total  15,512  8,165  56  23,733  19,044 

1 Appointed as a non-executive director 27 March 2020
2 Appointed as a non-executive director 1 January 2021
3 Appointed and resigned as a non-executive director on 24 February 2020 and 27 March 2020, respectively

The directors’ and prescribed officers’ (including their associates) direct and indirect share ownership at 31 December 2021 
was:

Number of shares1 %

2021 2020 2021 2020

Executive directors
Neal Froneman2,3  6,636,286  4,829,128  0.24  0.17 

Charl Keyter3  2,866,791  1,775,994  0.10  0.06 

Non-executive directors
Timothy Cumming3  6,000  1,242  —  — 

Richard Menell3  15,125  84,625  —  — 

Keith Rayner3  68,992  68,992  —  — 

Susan van der Merwe3  1,028  1,027  —  — 

Jeremiah Vilakazi3  2,000  —  —  — 

Vincent Maphai3  152,135  50,000  0.01  — 

Savannah Danson3  2,519  2,519  —  — 

Harry Kenyon-Slaney3,4  16,852  16,852  —  — 

Elaine Dorward-King3,5  10,000  4,800  —  — 

Total share ownership by directors  9,777,728  6,835,179 

Prescribed officers6

Dawie Mostert3  26,466  38,975  —  — 

Themba Nkosi3  204,533  59,022  0.01  — 

Richard Stewart3  739,633  105,303  0.03  — 

Robert van Niekerk3  875,261  24,341  0.03  — 

Laurent Charbonnier3,7  151,012  35,620  0.01  — 

Total  11,774,633  7,098,440 

1   Following the implementation of the Scheme (refer note 8), the Directors’ shareholdings are in Sibanye Stillwater Limited
2   Neal Froneman and his associates holds 90,479 ADRs at 31 December 2021 (2020: 3,213) which convert to 361,916 (2020: 12,852) ordinary 

shares in the Company
3   Share ownership (including shares held by associates) in the Company at the date of this report was unchanged, except for the following:

• Neal Froneman - 8,230,978
• Charl Keyter - 1,466,181

• Savannah Danson - 16,519

• Dawie Mostert - 26,585

• Richard Stewart - 788,771

• Robert van Niekerk - 1,364,690
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4   Harry Kenyon-Slaney and his associates holds 4,213 ADRs at 31 December 2021 (2020: 4,213) which convert to 16,852 (2020: 16,852) ordinary 
shares in the Company

5   Appointed during 2020. Elaine Dorward-King and her associates holds 2,500 ADRs at 31 December 2021 (2020: 1,200) which convert to 
10,000 (2020: 4,800) ordinary shares in the Company

6   In 2021, Sibanye-Stillwater introduced a new executive level of management (referred to as the C-suite). Therefore from 2021, only C-suite 
members are disclosed as prescribed officers of Sibanye-Stillwater. In 2020, the following individuals were also disclosed as prescribed 
officers:

• Chris Bateman - ceased performing an EVP role on 6 September 2020
• Shadwick Bessit - ceased performing an EVP role on 16 January 2021
• Hartley Dikgale - ceased performing an EVP role on 31 March 2020
• Wayne Robinson - not a C-suite member

7   Appointed during 2020. Laurent Charbonnier and his associates holds 37,753 ADRs at 31 December 2021 (2020: 8,905) which convert to 
151,012 (2020: 35,620) ordinary shares in the Company

10.2   Other related party transactions and balances

Accounting policy

Amounts receivable by the Company

Amounts receivable by the Company are non-derivative financial assets categorised as measured at amortised cost. These 
assets are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost.

Amounts payable by the Company

Amounts payable by the Company are non-derivative financial liabilities categorised as measured at amortised cost. These 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are measured at amortised cost. 

Impairment

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss to the extent applicable. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation 
of the original effective interest rate. 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the 
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For any assets carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL. 
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the 
lifetime ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort. Impairment losses are recognised through profit or loss.

The Company considers non-current related party loans receivable in default when contractual payments are 90 days past 
due, however in certain cases, the Company may also consider the loan receivable to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A related party loan receivable is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flow.

Non-current related party loans receivables have no repayment terms and therefore are considered in default 90 days after 
the loan has been called from the related party. The financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the cash flow from the related party.

Derecognition

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial asset that is created or retained 
by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability. The Company derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual rights are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Notes to the company financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Sibanye-Stillwater Company Financial Statements 2021                                           27



The below table illustrates the related party loans:

Figures in million - SA rand 2021 2020

Net loans (payable)/receivable to/from subsidiaries

SGL  (5,208)  12,650 

SPPL  (3,000)  — 

Balance at end of the year  (8,208)  12,650 

Current and non-current portion of related party loans:
Current portion of related party loans payable (8,208)  — 

Current portion of related party loans receivable —  45 

Non-current portion of related party loans payable —  — 

Non-current portion of related party loans receivable —  12,605 

Loan receivable from SGL

The US$ Convertible Bond was issued by SGL. However, due to the implementation of the Scheme (refer note 8), the shares 
to be issued upon settlement were those of SSW. As a result, SSW and SGL entered into a loan facility agreement to fund the 
settlement of the Bond during 2020. 

In terms of the loan facility agreement, SSW issued shares to SGL on loan account. The fair value of the SSW shares, 
calculated as the volume weighted average price of the SSW shares on each date of settlement, was used as the loan 
draw down values. The total fair value of the shares and corresponding loan draw down amounted to R12,573 million during 
2020. The additional movements on the loan included interest capitalised and the funding by SGL of the SSW share buy-
back in 2020. The SSW shares were directly issued to the bondholders. Other than using the related party loan receivable as 
a mechanism to fund the tax payable amounting to R45 million, at 31 December 2020 SSW had no intention to call for 
repayment of the loan and has therefore classified the remaining portion as non-current. However, due to additional 
intercompany transactions that occurred during 2021, which provided the opportunity for offsetting against the loan, the 
loan was settled in full by 31 December 2021.

Terms of the loan

Facility The SA rand loan facility for an amount of R22.5 billion, granted by SSW to SGL under the loan facility 
agreement

Interest rate JIBAR plus 2.40%

Security Unsecured

Repayment terms Repayable upon written notice by either party

The table below shows a reconciliation of the loan receivable balance at 31 December 2021:

Figures in million - SA rand Note 2021 2020

Balance at beginning of the year  12,650  — 

Shares issued to SGL to settle the US$ Convertible Bond  —  12,573 

Interest capitalised 4  235  161 

Cash repayments  (893)  — 

Other repayments1  (11,992)  (84) 

Balance at end of the year  —  12,650 

1 Other repayments include amounts settled by SGL on behalf of the Company. This includes R2,158 million relating to share buy-backs, 
R9,485 million relating to dividends paid to shareholders of the Company, R272 million on investments in Battery Metals, and R77 million 
relating to tax paid on behalf of the Company. In 2020, the share buy-back (refer note 8) was funded by SGL and accounted for as a partial 
repayment of the intercompany loan
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Loans payable to SGL and SPPL

During the year, the Company received funding from subsidiaries in order to complete certain transactions. The loans have 
no repayment terms and are non-interest bearing. The table below shows a reconciliation of the loans payable balance at 
31 December 2021:

Figures in million - SA rand Note 2021 2020

Balance at beginning of the year  —  — 

SGL
Loans given to SGL (dividend received on behalf of SSW)1 4  6,862  — 

Loans repaid by SGL (cash)  (6,862)  — 

Total loan receivable from SGL  —  — 

Loans received from SGL (cash)2  (5,170)  — 

Payments made on behalf of SSW by SGL (non-cash)  (38)  — 

Total loans payable to SGL  (5,208)  — 

SPPL
Loans received from SPPL (cash)3  (3,000)  — 

Total loans payable to SPPL  (3,000)  — 

Balance at end of the year  (8,208)  — 

1  A dividend of R6,862 million was declared to SSW by SPPL (refer note 4). This dividend was not received in cash as SSW at the time did not 
have a bank account. The dividend was instead received by SGL and a intercompany loan was created with this amount receivable by 
SSW from SGL

2 The amounts received was to fund the remaining share buy-back costs, the further investment in Battery Metals and dividends paid to 
shareholders of the Company, which were declared in the second half of 2021. This amount was received in cash

3 The amount was received from SPPL in order to fund the Battery Metals investment as well as the dividend paid to shareholders of the 
Company. This amount was received in cash 

Credit risk

The Company was exposed to credit risk on the total carrying value of the related party loan receivable at 
31 December 2020. The loan was subsequently repaid and no further credit risk exposure exists at 31 December 2021 on 
intercompany loans.

Interest rate sensitivity

The related party loan receivable was exposed to interest rate fluctuations as a result of changes to the JIBAR rate at 
31 December 2020. The loan was fully repaid by 31 December 2021. A one percent change in the JIBAR rate would result in 
a Rnil (2020: R21 million) impact on profit or loss. Remaining intercompany loans are interest free with no interest rate risk 
exposure.

Fair value of related party loan receivable and payable

Since the interest on the loan is charged at a market related interest rate, the fair value at initial recognition as well as at 
31 December 2020 was equal to the carrying value. Since the loan payable has no repayment terms, it is considered 
repayable on demand. As a result, the fair value of the loan payable is considered to approximate the carrying value at 
31 December 2021.
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11.    Risk management activities

Working capital and going concern assessment

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company realised a profit of R7,042 million (2020: R20,403 million). As at 31 
December 2021, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by R8,193 million (2020: current assets were 
equal to current liabilities) and its total assets exceeded its total liabilities by R30,181 million (2020: R49,341 million). During the 
year ended 31 December 2021, the Company used R8,332 million cash in operating activities (2020: Rnil).

The Group has a central Group Treasury Function which manages the liquidity requirements of the Group. SSW, as the 
holding company of the Group, will obtain funding for any shortfall in its liquidity requirements (if any) through the Group 
Treasury Function. Management’s assessment and conclusion on the ability of the central Group Treasury Function to fund, 
amongst other operations, the future liquidity requirements of the Company is included below. 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group realised a profit of R33,796 million (2020: R30,622 million). As at 
31 December 2021, the Group’s current assets exceeded its current liabilities by R44,290 million (2020: R34,756 million) and 
the Group’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by R81,345 million (2020: R70,716 million). During the year ended 
31 December 2021, the Group generated net cash from operating activities of R32,256 million (2020: R27,151 million).

The Group had committed undrawn debt facilities of R15,749 million at 31 December 2021 (2020: R7,336 million) and cash 
balances of R30,292 million (2020: R20,240 million). The 2022 Notes, contractually due to be settled on 27 June 2022, were 
early settled on 2 August 2021 for the nominal value of US$354 million (R5,123 million). The 2025 Notes were refinanced and 
upsized into a new bond issue on 16 November 2021, securing reduced cost of debt, longer financing tenors and enhancing 
liquidity. The most immediate debt maturities are the US$600 million USD RCF maturing in April 2023 and the R5.5 billion ZAR 
RCF maturing in November 2024. The Group’s leverage ratio (net (cash)/debt to adjusted EBITDA) as at 31 December 2021 
was (0.2):1 (2020 was (0.1):1) and its interest coverage ratio (adjusted EBITDA to net finance (income)/charges) was (5,281):1 
(2020 was 80:1). Both considerably better than the maximum permitted leverage ratio of at most 2.5:1 and minimum 
required interest coverage ratio of 4.0:1, calculated on a quarterly basis, required under the US$600 million RCF and the 
R5.5 billion RCF. With the available RCF’s collectively 100% unutilised at 31 December 2021, high level of available cash 
balances and the Group’s strong liquidity position, no imminent refinancing of debt is required.

Notwithstanding the exceptionally strong liquidity position and good financial outlook,  the Group could also, if necessary, 
consider options to increase funding flexibility which may include, amongst others, additional loan facilities or debt capital 
market issuances, streaming facilities, prepayment facilities or, in the event that other options are not deemed preferable or 
achievable by the Board, an equity capital raise. The Group could also, with lender approval, request covenant 
amendments or restructure facilities. During past adversity, management had successfully implemented similar actions.

Management believes that the cash generated by its operations, cash on hand, the unutilised debt facilities as well as 
additional funding opportunities will enable the Group to continue to meet its obligations as they fall due. As a result, 
management concluded that the Group will have sufficient liquidity to fund, through its central Group Treasury Function, 
the liquidity requirements of the Company. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021, 
therefore, have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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12.    Events after the reporting date

There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company after 31 December 2021, 
other than that mentioned below.

12.1   Sandouville acquisition

On 30 July 2021, the Company announced that it had entered into an exclusive put option agreement (Put Option) with 
French mining group Eramet SA (Eramet) for the acquisition of 100% of the Sandouville nickel hydrometallurgical processing 
facility (Sandouville), located in Normandy, France. The Sandouville facility is situated in the industrial heart of Europe at Le 
Havre, France’s second largest industrial port, with strategic access to extensive logistical infrastructure including shipping, 
rail and key motorways, supporting any future supply into the European end user markets.

The transaction is the second step in SSW’s battery metals strategy, building on the investment in the Keliber lithium hydroxide 
project, in partnership with the State of Finland and the Finnish Minerals Group, announced in February 2021. The Sandouville 
site is a polyvalent facility which is already zoned for heavy industrial purposes. The site is scaleable for nickel, cobalt and 
lithium battery grade products, and will enable the Group to further advance its battery metals strategy and recycling 
activities.

On 4 November 2021, following the signing of the exclusive Put Option, the Company announced that the Share Purchase 
Agreement (SPA) had been signed to acquire 100% of Sandouville. The signature of the SPA followed the successful 
completion of the information-consultation process with the employee representative bodies of Sandouville and Eramet, 
who rendered a favourable opinion of the transaction. The transaction also received the key regulatory approvals of the 
South African Reserve Bank and clearance from the French Foreign Investment Control Office. The remaining conditions in 
respect of the acquisition were fulfilled on 4 February 2022, which resulted in an effective acquisition date of 4 February 
2022. The investment in Sandouville will be housed in a wholly-owned subsidiary, Sibanye BM France Proprietary Limited, 
which will reflect the investment at cost. The cash purchase consideration is approximately €85 million, subject to any final 
post-closing adjustments.

12.2   Santa Rita and Serrote

On 26 October 2021, the Company entered into purchase and sale agreements with affiliates of funds advised by Appian 
Capital Advisory LLP (Appian) to purchase 100% of the Santa Rita nickel mine (Santa Rita) and the Serrote copper mine, 
both located in Brazil. The acquisition price was to be a cash consideration of US$1 billion and a 5% net smelter royalty over 
potential future underground production at Santa Rita (the Atlantic Nickel SPA and the MVV SPA, respectively).  

The Company was advised by Appian that, subsequent to signing the Atlantic Nickel SPA and the MVV SPA, a geotechnical 
event occurred at Santa Rita. Management assessed the event and its effect and concluded that it was and was 
reasonably expected to be material and adverse to the business, financial condition, results of operations, the properties, 
assets, liabilities or operations of Santa Rita. Accordingly, pursuant to the terms of the Atlantic Nickel SPA, on 
24 January 2022, the Company gave notice of termination of the Atlantic Nickel SPA. As the MVV SPA was conditional on 
the closing of the Atlantic Nickel SPA, which had become impossible to satisfy, on the same date the Company also gave 
notice of termination of the MVV SPA. As announced by the Company on 2 March 2022, if Appian commences 
proceedings, the Company will follow due course in defending any possible claims or litigation on the matter.

12.3   Rhyolite Ridge joint venture with ioneer

On 16 September 2021, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement with ioneer to establish a joint venture 
company with respect to the Rhyolite Ridge lithium-boron project. Following the satisfaction of all conditions precedent, the 
Company through its subsidiaries, will contribute US$490 million for a 50% interest in Rhyolite Ridge. ioneer will also hold a 50% 
interest and retain the operational management responsibility. Management concluded that the transaction was not 
effective at 31 December 2021 since a number of conditions precedent were still outstanding, joint control was not 
obtained and no contractual rights or obligations were created.

12.4   Kroondal transaction

On 31 January 2022, the Company announced it had entered into an agreement with Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited 
(RPM) a subsidiary of Anglo American Platinum Limited, through its subsidiary Sibanye Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited 
(SRPM), which will result in SRPM assuming full ownership of the Kroondal operation.  The Kroondal operation is subject to a 
50/50 pool and share agreement (Kroondal PSA) between Kroondal Operations Proprietary Limited (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company) and RPM (collectively the PSA parties). 

By the end of 2020 certain shafts at the Kroondal operation had reached the boundaries of the Kroondal PSA lease area. 
In order to allow the affected shafts to continue operating, with effect from January 2021, a contractor mining agreement 
was agreed between the PSA Parties and SRPM, providing for the mining of SRPM from the Kroondal operations 
(the “Contractor Agreement”). 
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In addition to the Contractor Agreement, SRPM and RPM have entered into a sale and purchase agreement in terms of 
which SRPM will acquire RPM’s 50% interest and all associated liabilities in respect of the Kroondal PSA for a cash 
consideration of R1.00 plus the assumption of RPM's portion of all associated liabilities, which include all associated closure 
costs and rehabilitation liabilities. This transaction will extend the life of the Kroondal operations to 2029 and ensure significant 
value creation for all stakeholders. Management is in the process of assessing the accounting impact of the transaction.

12.5   Verkor

During February 2022, the Company entered into a term sheet whereby the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Battery Metals, would invest in Verkor S.A. (Verkor) through a €25 million convertible bond. Verkor is a French Gigafactory 
project aiming to enter the European battery materials market as a manufacturer of low-carbon footprint batteries for 
application in electric vehicles and large-scale stationary storage markets. Battery Metals subscribed for the convertible 
bond on 22 March 2022. Management is in the process of assessing the accounting impact of the transaction.

12.6   Change in future South African corporate income tax (CIT) rate

During his budget speech on 23 February 2022, the South African Minister of Finance confirmed the change in the 
South African CIT rate as announced in his February 2021 budget speech. For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, 
the  CIT rate applicable to SSW and its South African subsidiaries, which apply a CIT rate, was 28% and will remain at 28% for 
the financial year ending 31 December 2022. For subsequent financial years the change will become effective and a 
27% CIT rate will apply.

12.7   Keliber investment

On 14 March 2022, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Battery Metals, made payment for the third tranche 
of the initial phased equity investment in Keliber. The subscription price amounted to €5 million for an additional 125 000 
shares in Keliber, representing an approximately 30% shareholding at the time of subscription. The Company now holds a 
guaranteed option to achieve the majority shareholding in Keliber, should it wish to do so, by contributing further equity 
financing for the development of the project. Since the Company obtained a substantive ability to acquire a majority 
shareholding in Keliber upon subscription for the third tranche share investment, management concluded that control was 
obtained at the time of subscription. Management is in the process of assessing the accounting impact of the transaction.
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